
1 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

CHARLESTON DIVISION 

 

       

Douglas Higgins, On Behalf of Himself and 

Others Similarly Situated,  

    

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

James Doran Company Inc., JDC 

Management LLC, and Robert J. Doran, Jr., 

individually, 

 

 

Defendants. 

 

 

CIVIL ACTION NO.: _______________ 

 

  

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

        (Jury Trial Requested) 

 

      

                

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Plaintiff Douglas Higgins, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by way of his Complaint in the above-captioned matter, alleges and shows unto 

this Honorable Court the following: 

NATURE OF CLAIM 

1. Plaintiff bring this lawsuit seeking recovery against Defendants for 

Defendants’ violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended (the “FLSA” or the 

“Act”), 29 U.S.C. §201 et. seq. 

2. The Plaintiff bring this action as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 

§216(b) on behalf of himself other similarly situated employees of the Defendants who 

suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ violations of the FLSA. 

3. Plaintiff also brings individual claims for unpaid wages under the South 

Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. Code Ann § 41-10-10, et seq. (SCPWA). 
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PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. Plaintiff Douglas Higgins is a recent resident of North Carolina, however 

at all time material to this complaint he was a citizen of Charleston, South Carolina. 

5. Defendant, James Doran Company, Inc., is a for-profit corporation, 

registered with the South Carolina Secretary of State 

6. Defendant, JDC Management LLC, is a for-profit corporation, registered 

with the South Carolina Secretary of State.  

7. Defendant, Robert J. Doran, Jr, owns and operates James Doran Company, 

Inc. and JDC Management LLC, for profit and employs persons such as Plaintiff and 

other similarly situated maintenance workers on his behalf in providing labor for his 

business.  Defendant is within the personal jurisdiction and venue of this Court. 

8. Venue is proper in this District because the Defendants have conducted 

substantial, continuous and systematic commercial activities in South Carolina.  

Additionally, the unlawful labor practices and policies giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims 

were committed in the Charleston Division of this Court. 

9. Plaintiff brings this action, individually and as an opt-in collective action 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), on behalf of a class of all similarly situated employees 

who worked in excess of forty (40) hours during certain workweeks without receiving 

overtime compensation during the last three years. 

10. This Court has jurisdiction of the Plaintiff’s claims brought under the 

FLSA pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 29 U.S.C. § 216 (b). 
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FACTS 

11. Defendant, James Doran Company, Inc., is a real estate investment and 

development company based in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. JDC enjoys extensive 

experience in various types of real estate including office, retail, multifamily and mixed 

use as well as provides hands-on property management services. 

http://jamesdoranco.publishpath.com/property-management 

12. Defendant, JDC Management LLC operates the property management 

division of James Doran Company Inc., http://jamesdoranco.publishpath.com/property-

management 

13. Defendant Robert J. Doran Jr, owns and operates both James Doran 

Company, Inc and JDC Management LLC and regularly exercised the authority to hire 

and fire employees, determine the work schedules of employees, set the rate of pay of 

employees, and control the finances and operations of such business.  By virtue of such 

control and authority Robert J. Doran, Jr was an employer of Plaintiff as such term is 

defined by the Act.  29 U.S.C. §201 et seq.  

14. Defendant, James Doran Company, Inc. regularly exercised the authority 

to hire and fire employees, determine the work schedules of employees, set the rate of 

pay of employees, and control the finances and operations of such business.  By virtue of 

such control and authority James Doran Company, Inc was an employer of Plaintiff as 

such term is defined by the Act.  29 U.S.C. §201 et seq.  

15. Defendant, JDC Management LLC., regularly exercised the authority to 

hire and fire employees, determine the work schedules of employees, set the rate of pay 

of employees, and control the finances and operations of such business.  By virtue of 
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such control and authority JDC Management LLC was an employer of Plaintiff as such 

term is defined by the Act.  29 U.S.C. §201 et seq.  

16. Defendants JDC Management LLC, James Doran Company, Inc and 

Robert J. Doran Jr (herein “Defendants”) were joint employers of Plaintiff and similarly 

situated maintenance workers.  The Defendants were in a common enterprise regarding 

the maintenance and repairs of the properties referred to paragraph 20. Each Defendant 

shared control over the Plaintiffs and similarly situated maintenance workers for the 

common business purpose of taking care of the apartment complexes stated in paragraph 

20 for a profit.  Each Defendant had the authority to hire, fire, and discipline the Plaintiffs 

and similarly situated maintenance workers. 

17. At all times relevant to this complaint, Plaintiff and similarly  

situated maintenance workers were non-exempt employees for purposes of the overtime  

compensation provisions of the FLSA.   

18. The Defendants employed Plaintiff from approximately July 2012 until 

approximately February 19, 2016. 

19. Plaintiff was employed as maintenance worker.   He was responsible for 

several apartment complexes.  His duties included repairing appliances, HVAC, 

electricity, plumbing, cleaning the common areas and taking out the trash.  Plaintiff was 

also required to clean, paint and repair vacant apartments to prepare them for new 

occupancy. 

20. Plaintiff as well as similarly situated maintenance workers were 

responsible for maintaining and repairing the following properties in and around 

Charleston: Ivy Ridge, North Charleston; Sea Island, Johns Island; Seven Farms, Daniel 
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Island; The Shires, West Ashley; Grandoaks, West Ashley; Grandview, West Ashley; 

North Central, Charleston; Rutledge Place, Charleston; Seven Farms Village, Daniel 

Island; and Shady Grove, Charleston.  

21. Plaintiff was paid an hourly rate. Plaintiff and other similarly situated 

employees had an employment agreement with the Defendants, whereby the Defendants 

agreed to pay them an hourly rate for all hours worked.  In addition, Defendants agreed to 

pay Plaintiff and similarly situated maintenance workers mileage when they drove their 

vehicles for worked related purposes.  

22. Plaintiff was scheduled to work Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 

5:00 p.m.  In addition, Plaintiff and similarly situated maintenance workers regularly 

worked evenings and weekends and were not compensated for this time.  

23. Plaintiff and similarly situated maintenance workers were not 

compensated for their meal breaks. The Defendants automatically deducted one (1) hour 

from their pay each shift regardless of whether or not they were able to have an 

uninterrupted meal break. Plaintiff regularly worked through his meal break because he 

was expected to respond to the residents’ requests for assistance. 

24. Plaintiff was primarily responsible for Rutledge Place and North Central 

apartment complex however he was regularly “on call” evenings and weekends for the 

other facilities as well.  When he was “on call”, Plaintiff was required to respond to 

residents calls for assistance from any of the Defendants’ facilities. 

25. Plaintiff and similarly situated maintenance workers regularly worked 

evenings and weekends and were not compensated for this time.  
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26. Defendants provided Plaintiff with an apartment at the Rutledge Place 

facility, so Plaintiff would be accessible to residents.  

27. Occasionally, Plaintiff was required to work through the night to conduct 

“Fire Walks”, which required him to walk the property once an hour and check for any 

signs or indications of a fire. Plaintiff was not compensated for this time and was not able 

to enjoy (5) five hours of uninterrupted sleep when he was required to do “Fire Walks”.   

Sometimes, Plaintiff was required to assist residents with repairs in the early morning 

hours and was not able to enjoy (5) five hours of uninterrupted sleep.   

28. Once a week from approximately 5:00 p.m. to 6:30 p.m, Plaintiff was 

required to assist the residents by overseeing and distributing items from the Food Pantry.  

Plaintiff was not compensated for this time. 

29. Plaintiff regularly submitted his mileage to Defendants and he was not 

reimbursed as per the employment agreement and handbook. 

30. Where board, lodging, or other facilities are customarily furnished as 

addition to a cash wage, the reasonable cost of the facilities to the employer must be 

considered as part of the employee's regular rate of pay.   

31. The Defendants did not include the costs of rent when calculating 

overtime for Plaintiff or similarly situated maintenance workers. 

32. The Defendant did not maintain accurate records of the hours that Plaintiff 

and similarly situated maintenance workers actually worked. 

33. During the relevant periods, Plaintiff and similarly situated maintenance 

workers regularly worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week, and they were not 
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compensated for time and half of their hourly wage. At all times relevant to this 

Complaint, Plaintiff was a non-exempt employee for purposes of the FLSA. 

34. Plaintiff regularly worked between forty (40) and fifty (50) hours a week 

and did not receive overtime compensation at time and half of his regular rate of pay. 

35. Defendants had a willful policy of requiring Plaintiff and similarly situated 

maintenance workers to work over forty hours a week and not paying them overtime. 

36. Defendants’ actions were not in good faith or based upon a reasonable 

belief that they were not violating applicable laws. 

37. Defendants have previously been sued for violating the FLSA, in Edwards 

v JDC Management LLC, 2;12-cv-1400-CWH. 

38. Plaintiff is entitled to lost wages and an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages. The Plaintiff is also entitled to recover his reasonable attorney's fees 

and costs of this action. 

FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Fair Labor Standards Act–Failure to Pay Overtime Wages)  

(Individual and Collective Action) 

 

39. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all similarly situated employees, 

realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if they were set forth 

herein verbatim. 

40. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, each of the Defendants was an 

“enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce” as that 

term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(s).   
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41. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, Plaintiff and similarly situated 

laborers were “engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce” as that 

term is defined within 29 U.S.C. §207. 

42. At all times relevant herein, each Defendants was an “employer” of 

Plaintiff and similarly situated employees as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) of 

the Fair Labor Standards Act. 

43. Defendants required Plaintiff and similarly situated employees to work 

“off the clock” by failing to compensate them for all hours during a workweek for which 

they were “employed” as that term is defined under 29 U.S.C. § 203(g) of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act. 

44. Defendants employed Plaintiff and similarly situated employees for 

workweeks longer than forty (40) hours without compensating Plaintiff and similarly 

situated employees at a rate of one and on-half times their regular rate of pay as required 

by 29 U.S.C. § 207(a).  

45. Plaintiff and similarly situated employees are entitled to unpaid overtime 

compensation at the rate of one-and-a-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours 

worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek, liquidated damages in an equal 

amount, and their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in bringing this action 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(South Carolina Payment of Wages Act) 

 

46. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself incorporates by reference all preceding 

paragraphs as if they were set forth herein verbatim. 
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47. Plaintiff worked for Defendant with the clear understanding and 

agreement by Defendant that his compensation would be consistent with all applicable 

laws, including federal and state wage and hour laws. 

48. Plaintiff had an employment agreement with Defendants whereby he 

would be paid for all hours worked plus mileage. 

49. Each Defendant is an “employer” as defined by the S.C. Code Ann  § 41-

10-10(1). 

50. S.C. Code Ann § 41-10-10(2) defines wages as “all amounts at which 

labor rendered is recompensed, whether the amount is fixed or ascertained on a time, 

task, piece, or commission basis, or other method of calculating the amount and includes 

vacation, holiday, and sick leave payments which are due to an employee under any 

employer policy or employment contract”. 

51. Defendants owe Plaintiff “wages” as defined in S.C Code Ann. § 41-10-10 

(2) of the SCPWA, to compensate them for labor rendered to Defendants, as promised to 

Plaintiffs and and as required by law. 

52. Pursuant to the SCPWA, “[a]n employer shall not withhold or divert any 

portion of the employee’s wages unless the employer is required or permitted to do so by 

state or federal law. . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-40(C). 

53. Further, “any changes [to] the terms [of wages] must be made in writing at 

least seven calendar days before they become effective.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30(A). 

54. Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiff all wages due, as required by 

SCPWA. 
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55. Defendants also failed to pay Plaintiff according to their employment 

agreement. 

56. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to receive all compensation due and 

owing to them including recovery of mileage. 

57. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 41-10-80(C), Plaintiff is entitled to recover in this 

action an amount equal to three times the full amount of his unpaid wages, or wrongfully 

deducted wages, plus costs and reasonable attorney’s fees. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all other similarly situated 

employees, seeks judgment against the Defendants as follows: 

a. Designation of this action as a collective action on behalf of the FLSA 

collective class pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216 (b); 

b. Judgment against Defendants for all overtime worked at one and one half 

times the regular rate of pay; 

c. An award of treble damages pursuant to the South Carolina Payment of 

Wages Act; 

d. Judgment against Defendants that their violation of the FLSA and its 

implementing regulations were willful; 

e. Liquidated damages in an amount equivalent to the overtime damages, and 

unpaid minimum wages owed to Plaintiffs; 

f. Attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

g. All such further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

JURY DEMANDED 
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 Plaintiff Higgins on his behalf and on behalf of all other similarly situated 

employees hereby demands a trial by jury. 

      

 

     Respectfully submitted, 

      

s/ Marybeth Mullaney   

Marybeth Mullaney (Fed. ID No. 11162) 

Mullaney Law 

1037 Chuck Dawley Blvd 

Building D, Suite 104 

Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464 

(843) 849-1692 Phone and Fax 

marybeth@mullaneylaw.net 

 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

 

     June 23, 2016 

     Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. 

2:16-cv-02149-RMG     Date Filed 06/23/16    Entry Number 1     Page 11 of 11




